IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1244

GEORGE DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE MARK SCHLENKER, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE Assistant Appellate Defender mnye@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT <u>FINAL</u>

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court failed to provide Davis an opportunity to speak in mitigation of sentence as required by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(3)(d)?

Authorities

State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98, 105 (Iowa 2020)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019)

State v. Wilson, 294 N.W.2d 824, 826 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Craig, 562 N.W.2d 633, 634 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d)

State v. Millsap, 547 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

State v. Lumadue, 622 N.W.2d 302, 304 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Nosa, 738 N.W.2d 658, 660 (Iowa Ct. App. 2007)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issue raised involves the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

George Davis appeals from his conviction, judgment and sentence for operating while intoxicated, third offense, following his guilty plea in the Polk County District Court.

Course of Proceedings. The State charged George Davis with operating while intoxicated, third offense, a class D felony in violation of Iowa Code § 321J.2 (2019), and possession of a controlled substance (Zolpidem), first offense, a serious misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code § 124.401(5) (2019). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-6). The State additionally alleged Davis was subject to enhancement as a habitual offender. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-6).

Davis and the State reached a plea agreement by which

Davis would plead guilty to OWI third offense and the State

would dismiss the possession charge and the habitual offender enhancement. (Petition to Plead Guilty) (App. p. 7). The parties agreed to recommend a five-year indeterminate term of incarceration and the minimum fine. (Petition to Plead Guilty) (App. p. 7). Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, Davis's plea was entered on paper and no in-person plea hearing was held. (Waiver of Presence) (App. p. 8). The court accepted Davis's plea. (Order Accepting Plea) (App. pp. 9-11).

Davis's counsel withdrew two weeks later. (Motion to Withdraw) (App. p. 12). New counsel was appointed to handle Davis's sentencing. (Order 6/30/2020) (App. pp. 13-14). After several continuances, Davis's sentencing hearing was held on August 24, 2020. (Sentencing Tr. p. 1).

The court sentenced Davis as jointly recommended—imposing a five-year indeterminate prison sentence and a \$3,125 fine. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 15-19). The court further found Davis did not have the reasonable ability to pay category B restitution. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 15-19).

Davis filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 20-25).

Facts: According to Davis's guilty plea, he admitted that on December 30, 2019, he "operated a motor vehicle on a public roadway while under the influence of methamphetamine, amphetamine, and zolpidem." (Petition to Plead Guilty) (App. p. 7). He had two prior convictions for OWI. (Petition to Plead Guilty) (App. p. 7).

ARGUMENT

The district court failed to provide Davis an opportunity to speak in mitigation of sentence as required by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(3)(d).

Jurisdictional Statement. "[G]ood cause exists to appeal from a conviction following a guilty plea when the defendant challenges his or her sentence rather than the guilty plea." State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98, 105 (Iowa 2020). Because Davis is challenging his sentence and not his underlying guilty plea, he has "good cause" to appeal as required by Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019).

<u>Preservation of Error</u>. Generally, a defendant is not required to raise an alleged sentencing defect in the trial court in order to preserve a right of appeal on that ground. <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 294 N.W.2d 824, 826 (Iowa 1980).

Standard of Review. Appellate review of sentencing procedures is for an abuse of discretion. State v. Craig, 562 N.W.2d 633, 634 (Iowa 1997). Such abuse is found when the district court's discretion was exercised on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. Id.

Discussion: Before the district court may enter judgment, "counsel for the defendant, and the defendant personally, shall be allowed to address the court where either wishes to make a statement in mitigation of punishment." Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d). The rule is mandatory. <u>State v. Millsap</u>, 547 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996). Substantial compliance is required: the record must show "that the court has 'invited, or afforded an opportunity for' the defendant to

speak regarding punishment." <u>State v. Lumadue</u>, 622 N.W.2d 302, 304 (Iowa 2001) (quoting <u>Craig</u>, 562 N.W. at 637). Any waiver of the allocution right must be unambiguous, knowing, and intentional. <u>Lumadue</u>, 622 N.W.2d at 304. Where the allocution requirement is not substantially complied with, a remand for resentencing is required. <u>Id</u>.

In this case, the court initially asked if Davis wished "to address the court." However, when Davis told the court he didn't believe he was guilty, the court halted the proceedings to allow counsel to discuss with Davis whether he was attempting to rescind his plea. (Sentencing Tr. p. 5 L. 8 – p. 6 L. 12).

After the recess, the court clarified that Davis's plea had already been entered and accepted by the court and asked Davis's attorney if she wanted to make a further record. She had Davis clarify that he was not trying to rescind his plea and that he voluntarily entered the guilty plea. (Sentencing Tr. p. 6 L. 15 – p. 7 L. 19). Thereafter, the court proceeded to sentencing.

This is the time and place set for sentencing. No motion in arrest of judgment has been filed. In view of the defendant's statements both before and after the recess and in view of what I've read in the written plea agreement the Court will proceed with proceed with sentencing on Count I under the terms of the plea agreement. Is there anything else the defendant further wishes to advise the Court, Miss Young?

(Sentencing Tr. p. 8 L. 15-23).

Davis's attorney addressed Davis's reasonable ability to pay and the court gave the State an opportunity to cross-examine on that issue. (Sentencing Tr. p. 8 L. 24 – p. 9 L. 18). The court then sentenced Davis, relying on his criminal history, education, work history, substance abuse history and the plea agreement, without Davis being asked to give a statement regarding sentencing. (Sentencing Tr. p. 9 L. 19 – p. 11 L. 19).

Thus, Davis was not given the opportunity to speak in mitigation of sentence. His only discourse in court went to the voluntariness of his plea and whether he was, in fact, trying to rescind it. In this situation, the court "did not unambiguously provide [Davis] with the opportunity to exercise his right to allocution." State v. Nosa, 738 N.W.2d 658, 660 (Iowa Ct. App.

2007). See State v. Millsap, 547 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996) (Allocution requirement not substantially complied with where court's "question did not invite Millsap to address the court in mitigation of the sentence, nor did the surrounding circumstances reveal Millsap should have understood the court was giving him the opportunity.").

Conclusion. Because Davis was denied his right of allocution as required by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.23(3)(d), his sentence should be vacated and remanded for resentencing.

NONORAL SUBMISSION

Counsel does not request to be heard in oral argument.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$1.32, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION FOR BRIEFS

This brief complies with the typeface requirements and type-volume limitation of Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(1)(d) and 6.903(1)(g)(1) because:

[X] this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface Bookman Old Style, font 14 point and contains 1,102 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).

Dated: 7/2/21

Melinda J. Nye

Assistant Appellate Defender

Appellate Defender Office

Lucas Bldg., 4th Floor

321 E. 12th Street

Des Moines, IA 50319

(515) 281-8841

mnye@spd.state.ia.us

appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us