IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-1244

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

GEORGE R. DAVIS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MARK SCHLENKER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

DARREL MULLINS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

JORDAN ROLING
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. At sentencing, the judge invited Davis twice to address the court. Did the court provide him an opportunity to speak in mitigation of punishment?**

Authorities

State v. Cason, 532 N.W.2d 755 (Iowa 1995)
State v. Cheatheam, 569 N.W.2d 820 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98 (Iowa 2020)
State v. Duckworth, 597 N.W.2d 799 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Larue, No. 16-0544, 2017 WL 2181251
(Iowa Ct. App. May 17, 2017)
State v. Millsap, 547 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)
State v. Mooney, No. 11-1569, 2013 WL 261267
(Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 24, 2013)
State v. Nosa, 738 N.W.2d 658 (Iowa Ct. App. 2007)
State v. Worby, No. 17-1832, 2018 WL 4360995
(Iowa Ct. App. 2018)
Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The State agrees the Court should route this matter to the Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

George Davis appeals his sentence for third-offense Operating While Intoxicated, contending the district associate court failed to honor his right of allocution. *See* Iowa Code § 321J.2; Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d).

The Honorable Mark F. Schlenker presided.

Course of Proceedings and Facts

The State accepts the defendant's statement of the facts and procedural history of the case. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

ARGUMENT

- I. The district associate court invited Davis to speak twice and imposed the sentence he said he accepted. The Court afforded him his right of allocution.**

Preservation of Error and Jurisdiction

The State agrees that Davis can argue on appeal that the district court failed to afford him a right of allocution. Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3); Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3); *State v. Damme*, 944 N.W.2d 98, 105 (Iowa 2020).

Standard of Review

The State agrees the Court will review for abuse of discretion.

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Merits

A court must offer the defendant a chance for allocution. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d); *State v. Millsap*, 547 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996). The right to allocution is mandatory but may be met with substantial compliance. *State v. Duckworth*, 597 N.W.2d 799, 800 (Iowa 1999). The court need not employ “any particular language to satisfy rule 2.23(3)(d).” *State v. Nosa*, 738 N.W.2d 658, 660 (Iowa Ct. App. 2007).

Inviting the defendant to address the court satisfies the rule. *See, e.g., State v. Worby*, No. 17-1832, 2018 WL 4360995, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018) (“does the Defendant wish to address the Court?”); *State v. Larue*, No. 16-0544, 2017 WL 2181251, *1 (Iowa Ct. App. May 17, 2017) (“Mr. Larue, is there anything you would like to say?”); *State v. Mooney*, No. 11-1569, 2013 WL 261267, *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 24, 2013) (“the court asked Mooney if there was anything else he would like to say”); *compare State v. Millsap*, 547 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa

Ct. App. 1996) (“Mr. Millsap, are you ready to be sentenced at this time?” did not substantially comply with the rule).

The right to allocution is personal to the defendant. But failure to invite him to address the court is not always prejudicial. If the defendant and counsel affirmatively state they agree to a sentence with the State, the failure to invite the defendant to address the court can be harmless. *State v. Cason*, 532 N.W.2d 755, 757 (Iowa 1995).

Generally, a sentence will not be upset on appellate review unless a defendant can demonstrate an abuse of discretion or a defect in the sentencing procedure.” *State v. Cheatheam*, 569 N.W.2d 820, 821 (Iowa 1997) (citation omitted). “A trial court’s sentencing decision is cloaked with a strong presumption in its favor, and an abuse of discretion will not be found unless a defendant shows such discretion was exercised on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *Id.*

Larue, 2017 WL 2181251 at *1.

Here, there is no abuse of discretion. The district associate court asked Davis if he wished “to address the court.” Sent. Tr. p. 5, l. 8–p. 6, l. 12. Davis explained he had an accident after he took pills that belonged to his son. *Id.* p. 5, ll. 21–25.

A few moments of confusion followed. The court thought Davis was denying a factual basis but then realized the plea had already

been accepted and no motion in arrest of judgment was on file. *Id.* p. 6, ll. 1–12. So, the Court suggested that defense counsel visit with Davis. *Id.*

Back on the record, the Court said to defense counsel, “Do you want to make further record?” *Id.* ll. 23–24.

Defense counsel invited Davis to speak. *Id.* p. 7, ll. 1–2.

Then the Court said, “If he wants to come up. Move the microphone over there. If [sic] you can come up if that’s something you wish.” *Id.* ll. 3–5.

Davis then said, “Yes. My lawyer and I discussed it and come to the conclusion that I can go ahead and accept the five-year sentence.” *Id.* ll. 6–8.

In accord with Rule 2.23(3)(d), the judge offered Davis an opportunity to address the court. In fact, the judge offered him two opportunities. The rule does not require a third. The court substantially complied with the rule.

The district associate court also imposed the five-year sentence Davis said he accepted. *Id.* p. 7, ll. 6–8; Pet. Plead Guilty (filed May 29, 2020); App. 7. Davis suffered no prejudice.

As such, the district associate court acted within its discretion in giving Davis a chance to address it and in imposing the agreed-upon sentence.

CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm the defendant's sentence.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State does not seek oral argument.